1978

# Loren R. Brockbank et al v. Jay B. Baldwin Jr. et al : Brief of Appellants-Defendants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs, owners of Lot 1 in Mt. Olympus Subdivision in Salt Lake County, sued a class consisting of other lot owners in the subdivision, seeking a determination that a covenant, restricting all lots in the subdivision to residential use, did not apply to Lot 1 which plaintiffs were attempting to develop as a shopping center.

DISPOSITION BY LOWER COURT

Plaintiffs moved for summary judgment. After oral argument, the Court took the motion under advisement and subsequently granted plaintiffs' motion. The Court entered extensive Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law determining, in brief, that the restrictive covenant was never

intended to apply and does not apply to Lot 1, that no purchaser ever reasonably relied on the covenant and that it would be unreasonable to apply the restrictive covenant to Lot 1. Having so ruled, the Court further determined that it was not necessary to consider defendants' argument that the covenant by its terms applies to Lot 1 and that any attempt to reform the written covenant on grounds of mistake is barred by the statute of limitations.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants seek reversal of the summary judgment in favor of plaintiffs and a declaration that summary judgment was not proper because material facts are in dispute. In the alternative, if the Court finds that no material facts are in dispute, defendants seek summary judgment in their favor on grounds that, as a matter of law, the covenant is applicable to Lot 1.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiffs are the owners of a five-acres lot in the Mt. Olympus Subdivision in Salt Lake County. The subdivision was originally developed in 1956 by Bernard P. and Nada R. Brockbank, the immediate predecessors in interest of plaintiffs. The subdivision plat which Bernard and Nada Brockbank recorded in 1956 in the Salt Lake County recorder's

office, shows several hundred lots of similar size and one larger ten-acre lot. The larger lot is numbered Lot 1 and is marked "Commercial Zone/Shopping Center." After the plat was recorded, the Brockbanks had prepared and recorded a restrictive covenant covering all lots in the subdivision (R. 114). The pertinent part of the covenant (R. 15) states: "All the lots in said tract shall be known and described as residential lots and shall be used for residential purposes only." The covenant also specifically excepts certain enumerated lots from this restriction; Lot 1 is not so excepted. Nevertheless, in 1958, Lot 1 was zoned commercial, C-1.

Several years later Bernard and Nada Brockbank sold to the State approximately half of Lot 1 when the State Road Commission threatened to condemn that part of Lot 1 which it needed for road expansion. The Brockbanks later transferred the remaining five acre portion of Lot 1 to their sons, Loren and Von, who with their wives, are plaintiffs in this action.

In 1971 the plaintiffs attempted to obtain financing from Zions Bank in Salt Lake City and proposed that Lot 1 be used to secure the loan (R. 239). A title report dated September 7, 1971, was provided to the Bank by Brockbank Realty and Brockbank and Sons (R. 240). The report indicated

that Lot 1 was subject to a restrictive covenant. James Kiholm, an officer and employee of the Bank, called this fact to the attention of plaintiffs (R. 240) and, because of this restriction, financing was refused.

In 1975, plaintiffs attempted to develop Lot 1 as a shopping center, but were still unable to obtain financing because lending institutions refused to finance the project without a judicial determination as to whether the restrictive covenant applied to Lot 1 (plaintiffs' complaint, R. 5). Therefore, plaintiffs brought suit against the named defendants, property owners in the subdivision. It was subsequently ordered that the action be maintained as a class action against all property owners in the subdivision (R. 52).

Plaintiffs' complaint alleges that the restrictive covenant was never intended to apply and does not apply to Lot 1 (plaintiffs' complaint, first cause of action, R. 5). In the alternative, plaintiffs argued that if the covenant does apply to Lot 1, then such resulted from mistake or inadvertance and the court should order reformation of the covenant to reflect the true intent of the developers (plaintiffs' second cause of action, R. 7).

Plaintiffs further argued that the plat, which was recorded first, should take precedence over the restrictive

covenant (third cause of action, R. 7), that the C-1 zoning classification should permit the development of the shopping center despite the restrictive covenant (fourth cause of action, R. 8), that the restrictive covenant is against public policy (fifth and sixth causes of action, R. 10, and 11), and that the restrictive covenant is void (seventh cause of action, R. 12).

Defendants answered with a general denial of most of the allegations in the complaint. In addition, defendants affirmatively alleged in their verified answer (R. 34) that virtually all of the defendants purchased their property in reliance on the covenant, that plaintiffs had actual or constructive notice that the covenant restricted Lot 1 and that plaintiffs' request for reformation is barred by the statute of limitation, Utah Code Annotated 78-12-26(3), which provides that an action for reformation of a mistake must be brought within three years of the discovery of the mistake.

*If this is a suit to Reform*  
The Court granted plaintiffs motion for summary judgment, ruling, as previously stated, that the restrictive covenant did not apply to Lot 1. This holding was essentially a judgment on plaintiffs' first cause of action. Having so ruled, the Court determined that the plaintiffs' second cause of action for reformation of mistake and defendants'

statute of limitations defense was "without merit" (Memorandum Decision, R. 241) or was immaterial and that it was unnecessary to consider such defense (Conclusions of Law, R. 250). Plaintiffs' other causes of action were not argued.

## LEGAL ARGUMENT

### POINT I

UNAMBIGUOUS LANGUAGE CANNOT BE VARIED  
BY EXTRINSIC EVIDENCE AS TO THE INTENT  
OF THE PARTIES. THE COURT ERRED IN  
CONSIDERING THE INTENT OF THE DEVELOPER  
OF THE SUBDIVISION

The language of the covenant clearly makes the residential restriction applicable to Lot 1. The covenant states: "All the lots in said tract shall be known and described as residential lots and shall be used for residential purposes only" [emphasis added]. In addition, the covenant specifically excepts from this residential restriction certain lots, specifically named, which are earmarked for "school, Church and Recreational purposes." Lot 1 is not excepted, nor does the covenant make any mention of any lot in the subdivision being set aside for commercial and/or shopping purposes.

Given this unambiguous language, it is clear that the restrictive covenant was made applicable and is still applicable to Lot 1. The clear and plain language makes it impossible to conclude otherwise.

Plaintiffs argue, however, that despite this clear and unambiguous language, the covenant should be held inapplicable to Lot 1 because it was never intended

to be applied to Lot 1. Bernard Brockbank, in his affidavit, states that he was the developer of the subdivision, that he caused the plat and the covenants to be prepared and recorded and that it was never his intention that Lot 1 was to be subject to the restrictive covenant (R. 114). But the developer's intention is immaterial where the language of the covenant is plain and unambiguous and evidence as to his intent cannot be used to vary terms which are clear and definite.

In the case of Commercial Building Corporation v. Blair, 565 P.2d 776, Utah, 1977, there was a dispute as to what portion of leased property the lessor was obligated to set aside for parking spaces. The lease said parking was to be on "Lots 25 to 30" but the trial court ruled that the language was ambiguous, considered evidence that the lessor did not intend that only Lots 25 to 30 could be set aside for parking, and ruled in favor of the lessor. The Utah Supreme Court reversed saying:

The rule in the State of Utah, as elsewhere, is that parol evidence may be admitted to show the intent of the parties if the language of a written contract is vague and uncertain. On the other hand, such evidence cannot be permitted to vary or contradict the plain language of a contract...If it was in fact the intention of the parties that the parking area could be located

anywhere on the south half of the lessor's property, they had only to say so. To say now that the parties did not mean what they said in clear and plain language is to vary and contradict the terms of the contract.

The Court ruled the same way in Clyde v. Eddington Canning Co., 10 Utah 2d 14, 347 P.2d 563 (1959):

Under the clear language of the writing we are not impressed with [defendant's contention as to his intention], particularly since intentions cannot vary the terms of clear, concise, unambiguous language employed by him who says he did not intend what he said.

See also Pulsipher v. Tolboe, 13 Utah 2d 190, 370 P.2d 360 (1962), where the Utah Supreme Court ruled that where language of a contract is clear and unambiguous, there is no basis for interpreting it by showing by extraneous evidence the intent or understanding of a party.

Plaintiffs rely on the rule as stated in Parrish v. Richards, 8 Utah 2d 419, 336 P.2d 122 (1959), that in the "construction of uncertain or ambiguous restrictions the courts will resolve all doubts in favor of the free and unrestricted use of property." Defendants do not contest that proposition but such a rule has no bearing here as we are not attempting to interpret uncertain or ambiguous restrictions. "Where the language of the restriction is clear and unambiguous, the parties will be confined to the

meaning of the language which they have employed, and it is unnecessary and improper to inquire into the surrounding circumstances or the objects and purposes of the grant or restrictions for aid in its construction." 26 C.J.S., Deeds, Sec. 163, p. 1104.

In light of the foregoing, the court erred in considering the developer's intention where the language of the covenant was clear, plain, definite and unambiguous.

## POINT II

WHETHER ANY PURCHASER OF A LOT IN THE SUBDIVISION RELIED ON THE RESTRICTIVE COVENANT IS A MATERIAL FACT, SHARPLY DISPUTED, THEREBY MAKING IT ERROR FOR THE COURT TO GRANT SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

In granting plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment, the trial court further ruled that no purchaser of any lot in the subdivision could have relied on the covenant or believed it restricted Lot 1 to residential use. Whether any purchaser relied is an issue of fact that is sharply disputed.

Defendants filed two affidavits of persons who had purchased lots in the subdivision. Each stated that he relied on the covenant when he purchased his lot.

Earl Spafford, who purchased a lot in 1963 and later sold it, stated: "That at the time of said purchase

affiant was informed of and relied upon the language of said restrictive covenant" (R. 220). Don Smith, one of the defendants in the instant action, stated that, when he purchased his lot in 1972, he "examined the title report and the restrictive covenant contained therein" and further that he "knew of the restrictive covenant covered by [sic, presumably he meant covering] Lot 1 and relied thereon in his purchase of the property" (R. 237).

These statements are in direct conflict with the affidavit of Bernard Brockbank, who stated: "I do not know of any purchaser or owner of any of the lots in the subdivision who relied, in purchasing a lot or lots, on the restrictive covenant as restricting.... Lot 1...." (R. 117).

Nevertheless, the court failed to recognize this dispute of fact and entered the following Finding of Fact:

21. None of the purchasers, owners of, or any person having any interest in any of the lots in the aforesaid subdivision ever reasonably relied in purchasing a lot or lots in said subdivision on the restrictive covenants as restricting...Lot 1 to noncommercial residential development. (R. 247).

The court also entered the following Conclusions of Law:

6. None of the purchasers, owners of, nor any person or entity having any interest of any kind whatsoever in any of the lots in the aforesaid subdivision

ever reasonably relied, in purchasing a lot or lots in said subdivisions, on the restrictive covenants as restricting...Lot 1 to noncommercial residential development...

11. There are no issues of fact raised by the affidavits or records herein...

13. The affidavit of Earl S. Spafford does not raise any issues of material fact and is deficient in setting forth any facts that Earl S. Spafford relied on the aforesaid restrictive covenant...

14. The affidavit of Don Smith does not raise any issues of material fact and is deficient in setting forth any facts that Don Smith relied on the aforesaid restrictive covenants...(R. 250, 251).

Clearly these Findings and Conclusions are not correct. Whether purchasers of lots relied on the covenant as being applicable to Lot 1 is sharply in dispute since the developer claims no one relied and two purchasers claim they relied. Therefore, summary judgment is clearly in appropriate and the court erred in granting it.

The Utah Supreme Court has repeatedly ruled that summary judgment is a drastic remedy and should be granted only with reluctance and with great caution. Housely v. Anaconda Co., 19 Utah 2d 124, 427 P.2d 390 (1967).

This principle is stated plainly in Welchman v. Wood, 9 Utah 2d 25, 337 P.2d 410 (1959):

Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and the Court should be reluctant to deprive litigants of an opportunity to fully present their contentions upon a trial. It should be granted only when under the facts viewed in the light most favorable to [him against whom it is directed] he could not recover as a matter of law.

See also Frederick May & Co. v. Dunn, 13 Utah

2d 40, 368 P.2d 266 (1962):

To sustain a summary judgment, the pleadings evidence, admissions, and inferences must show that there is not a genuine issue of material fact and that the winner is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Such showing must preclude, as a matter of law, all reasonable possibility that the loser could win if given a trial.

The court apparently attempted to reconcile the disputed facts as to reliance by finding that there was no "reasonable" reliance. Whether the reliance claimed by Mr. Smith and Mr. Spafford was reasonable is to be determined by a trier of fact; such is not a determination to be made on a motion for summary judgment and without any evidence as to reasonableness. "It is not the purpose of the summary judgment procedure to judge the credibility of the averments of parties, or witnesses, or the weight of evidence...if there is any dispute as to any issue material to the settlement of the controversy, the summary judgment should not be granted." Holbrook Co. v. Adams, 542 P.2d 191, Utah, 1975.

The very fact that the court ordered plaintiff to prepare Findings of Fact (R. 242) indicates that the court had indeed determined facts. In considering a motion for summary judgment, it is not the judge's role to find facts, but only to look at the facts presented to him to determine if material facts are in dispute. Holbrook v. Adams, supra.

Plaintiffs attempt to discredit Mr. Smith's and Mr. Spafford's affidavits by arguing that their statements regarding their knowledge of and reliance on the restrictive covenant are not statements of fact but unsubstantiated conclusions (R. 212 and 214). The case of Walker v. Rocky Mountain Recreation Corp., 29 Utah 2d 274, 508 P.2d 538 (1973), requires that statements set forth in an affidavit "must be made on personal knowledge of the affiant, and set forth facts that... show that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein." The statements made by Mr. Smith and Mr. Spafford were made of their own personal knowledge and belief. Mr. Smith and Mr. Spafford are purchasers who state flatly that they relied. It is ridiculous to characterize their statements as unsubstantiated conclusions. A far better example of an unsubstantiated conclusion is Mr. Brockbank's statements that he knew of no purchasers who relied.

Plaintiffs also attack Mr. Spafford's affidavit as being immaterial and irrelevant since Mr. Spafford is not a defendant in the case and presently owns no property in the subdivision. It matters not that Mr. Spafford no longer owns property in the subdivision. Mr. Brockbank said in his affidavit that he knew of no purchaser who had relied. Mr. Spafford is a purchaser who did rely. Evidence is immaterial and irrelevant only if it sheds no light on the question; conversly, evidence is relevant if it tends to prove or disprove a fact in issue. 31A C.J.S., Evidence, Sec. 138. Mr. Spafford's affidavit meets this criteria. If his affidavit is immaterial because he is not a defendant, then Bernard Brockbank's affidavit should be immaterial because he is not a plaintiff. Such absurdity needs no elaboration.

### Point III

SINCE PLAINTIFFS ADMITTED THAT THE RESTRICTIVE COVENANT WAS BY MISTAKE MADE APPLICABLE TO LOT 1, THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO CONSIDER DEFENDANTS' DEFENSE THAT REFORMATION OF THE MISTAKE WAS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE ISSUE IS IMPROPER BECAUSE THE TIME OF DISCOVERY OF THE MISTAKE IS IN DISPUTE.

As shown in Point I, the clear and unambiguous language of the covenant makes the restriction applicable to Lot 1. Therefore, one must conclude either that the

covenant was intentionally made applicable to Lot 1 or the language making it applicable was a mistake.

Plaintiffs make no contention that the covenant was intentionally applied to Lot 1; rather, they repeatedly admit that a mistake was made. See the following admissions:

1. "...said document [the restrictive covenant] by accident mistake and/or inadvertance failed to exclude Lot 1..."(plaintiffs' answers to interrogatories, R. 104).
2. "It was also never intended that the large ten-acre tract be marked '1' and in so indicating that on the plat, a mistake was made" (Bernard Brockbank's affidavit, R. 114).
3. "He first discovered that a mistake had been made in marking '1' on the portion of the plat..." (Loren Brockbank's affidavit, R. 118). See similar statements in the affidavits of the other three plaintiffs on R. 120, 122 and 124.
4. "The upshot is that the mistake on the plat identifying this large ten acre parcel as Lot 1 arguably subjected that piece of property...to the restrictive covenant." (Oral argument of plaintiffs' attorney, R. 302).
5. "Now, Bernard Brockbank's affidavit, your Honor, makes it very clear that there was a mistake that was never intended...there was a mistake..." (Oral argument of plaintiffs' attorney, R. 303).
6. "Your Honor, it's simply our position on this motion that there has been a mistake made... (Oral Argument of plaintiffs' attorney, R. 304).

Plaintiffs' admissions that a mistake was made is also an admission that the language of the covenant makes the restriction applicable to Lot 1. If the covenant did not apply to Lot 1, there would be no reason to admit that a mistake had been made.

In light of these admissions that a mistake was made, defendants must be given the opportunity to present their defense that the statute of limitations bars reformation of the covenant.

Utah Code Annotated 78-12-26(3) provides that an action for relief on the ground of mistake must be brought within three years.

Defendants contend that plaintiffs knew about the mistake as early as September of 1971, five years before this action was instituted. James Kiholm, an officer and employee of Zions Bank, stated in his affidavit that on or about September 20, 1971, he pointed out to plaintiffs that a restrictive covenant encumbered Lot 1 (R. 240). A title report prepared in 1971 and furnished to Zions by plaintiffs also indicated the existence of the covenant (R.221).

In direct contradiction to these facts are statements in plaintiffs' affidavits that they did not discover that a mistake had been made until mid-1975 (R. 118, 120, 122, 124).

In light of these contradictions, summary judgment on the issue of mistake and the defense of the statute of limitations would be clearly improper. "This court has a consistent policy of resolving doubts in favor of permitting parties to have their day in court on the merits of the controversy." Ruffinengo v. Miller, 579 P.2d 342, Utah, 1978. See also the cases cited under Point II with regard to the propriety of summary judgment.

#### Point IV

##### ZONING CANNOT SUPERSEDE COVENANT RESTRICTIONS.

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