1978

# Loren R. Brockbank et al v. Jay B. Baldwin Jr. et al : Brief of Plaintiffs-Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE TRIAL JUDGE WAS JUSTIFIED IN GRANTING THE MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS THERE EXISTED NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT.

An expeditious disposition of cases is a cardinal virtue of the administration of justice, and a judge is not justified in refusing to grant summary judgment where the facts are undisputed. *Cardozo* said: "The administration of justice is a public duty, and it is the duty of the courts to see that it is performed as efficiently as possible." *Cardozo*, *supra*.  
Sponsored by the Utah State Library, a division of the Utah State Office of Education, under the provisions of the Federal Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.  
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

The very object of a motion for summary judgment is to separate what is formal or pretended in denial or averment from what is genuine and substantial, so that only the latter may subject a suitor to the burden of a trial. Richard vs. Credit Suisse, 242 NY 346, 152 NE 110, 111 (1926).

This Court has long held that although a summary judgment must be reviewed in the light most favorable to the losing party,

. . . the trial judge not only can but should grant a motion for summary judgment if he feels certain that he would rule that way no matter what proof a party could produce in support of his contentions. Allen's Products Company vs. Glover, et al., 18 Utah 2d 9, 414 P.2d 93, 94 (1966). (See also Pioneer Savings and Loan Association vs. Pioneer Finance and Thrift Company, 18 Utah 2d 106, 417 P.2d 121 (1966).

In contesting the motion for summary judgment in the trial court, Defendants-Appellants relied upon the allegations of their answer (R 80) and three affidavits, (R 219, 237, 239) none of which raised any material issues of fact which necessitated a finding by a trier of fact.

In the case of Walker vs. Rocky Mountain Recreation Corp., 29 Utah 2d 274, 508 P.2d 538 (1973), which the Defendants-Appellants cite in their brief, this Court held that the entry of summary judgment is proper where the affidavit opposing the motion for summary judgment reveals no evidentiary facts, but merely sets forth the affiant's unsubstantiated opinions and conclusions. Further, the language the Defendants-Appellants omitted from their quotation is highly relevant to the determination of this issue. (Defendants-Appellants' Brief page 14). The

complete statement from the Court is:

The opposing affidavit submitted by defendant did not comport with the requirements of Rule 56(e), U.R.C.P., i.e., such an affidavit must be made on personal knowledge of the affiant, and set forth facts that would be admissible in evidence and show that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. Statements made merely on information and belief will be disregarded. Hearsay and opinion testimony that would not be admissible if testified to at the trial may not properly be set forth in an affidavit.

A review of defendant's opposing affidavit reveals no evidentiary facts but merely reflects the affiant's unsubstantiated opinions and conclusions in regard to the transactions. (Id. at 542).

The same statement can be made as regards the affidavits of Defendants-Appellants. Rule 56(e), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states, in pertinent part:

The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

Subsection (e) of the same Rule states, in pertinent part:

When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of its pleading, but his response, by affidavit or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts, showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him.

Despite the allegation in the affirmative defenses that "virtually all of the members of the Class had purchased their property in reliance on the restrictive covenant" (R 84) Defendants-Appellants were able to obtain from the over 300 class members, only two affidavits, one by their counsel. In his Affidavit, Defendant Don Smith states:

That he knew of the restrictive covenant covered by Lot 1 and relied thereon in his purchase of the property. (R 237)

A careful examination of this statement will reveal that the Affiant is not stating a material issue of fact, but rather an unsubstantiated conclusion, which would be an inadmissible opinion that the covenant was applicable to Lot 1, inasmuch as that is the basis of this class action suit. Under the Walker case, supra, this would be insufficient to oppose a motion for summary judgment. Smith does not say that he believed that the restrictive covenant applied to Lot 1 or that he relied on any such belief in purchasing his property. He is merely stating that he relied on a covenant which he described as "covered by Lot 1" (perhaps he meant covering Lot 1). Mr. Spafford's Affidavit, in addition to being merely the self-serving attempt by counsel to bolster his defense, and if given at trial would have likely been disbelieved by the finder of fact (See Howick vs. Bank of Salt Lake, 28 Utah 2d 64, 498 P.2d 352 (1972)), suffers the same deficiencies present in Mr. Smith's Affidavit described above. Mr. Spafford merely states that at the time he purchased some of the property in question "Affiant

was informed of and relied upon the language of said restrictive covenant".

(R 220). This unsubstantiated conclusion (Walker, supra) does not even mention the possibility of the application to Lot 1 of the restrictive covenants respecting residential use.

According to West's Ann. Code Civ. Proc. § 437 c:

An affidavit opposing motion for summary judgment does not raise triable fact issue, unless it states facts showing that [the] party has a good and substantial defense or that a good cause of action exists on merits.

It is no wonder that neither Smith nor Spafford came right out and alleged that they believed the residential use covenants applied to the commercial lot. In order to have the slightest notion that the restrictive covenants might have applied to the large ten, later five, acre tract of undeveloped land, one would have to look at the plat referred to in the restrictive covenants document since the plat was the only reference showing which property was arguably covered by the restrictive covenants. Even a cursory examination of the plat quickly discloses the fact that the commercial lot was reserved for development as a shopping center. The ten acre lot, appearing on the plat to be some thirty or forty times larger than the residential lots, was clearly and boldly identified in capital letters as "SHOPPING CENTER COMMERCIAL ZONE C-1". It would be patently unreasonable for Smith or Spafford or anyone else to conclude that the restrictive covenants respecting residential use applied to the

allege:

1. That he read the residential use restrictions, or
2. That he believed that the residential use restrictions applied to the ten acre commercial lot, or
3. That he relied on such a belief in purchasing his property.

Instead, they have made a bare assumption or conclusion not supported by the undisputed facts. Even if Mr. Smith or Mr. Spafford had asserted in their Affidavits that they had relied on the fact that the residential use restrictions applied to the large undeveloped tract and the trial court found such reliance, under the undisputed facts set forth above, the court was well within its discretion to rule as a matter of law that such reliance was not sufficient to estop Plaintiffs-Respondents from asserting that the residential use restrictions were never intended to apply to the commercial lot.

Under Utah law, the party alleging estoppel must establish:

1. That his reliance was reasonable and that in so relying he used reasonable prudence and diligence. (Morgan vs. Board of State Lands) 549 P.2d 695, 697 (Utah, 1976), Baggs vs. Anderson, 528 P.2d 141, 143 (Utah, 1974), and J. P. Koch, Inc. vs. J. C. Penney Company, Inc., 534 P.2d 903, 905 (Utah, 1975);
2. That he substantially changed his position to his detriment as a result of such reliance. Baggs, supra, at page 143 and J. P. Koch,

supra, at page 905; and

3. That he would not have so changed his position except for the conduct of the other party. (Kelly vs. Richards, 83 P.2d 731, 734 (Utah, 1938)).

With respect to the last two requirements neither Mr. Smith nor Mr. Spafford has stated in his Affidavit that he suffered any detriment or that he would not have bought his property but for his reliance.

With respect to the first requirement of reasonable reliance, not only have Mr. Smith and Mr. Spafford failed to assert reasonable reliance, but even if they had, the trial court was well within its discretion to rule that based upon the undisputed facts, such reliance, if any, was unreasonable as a matter of law. As indicated above, neither Mr. Smith nor Mr. Spafford could have had any inkling that the residential use restriction might have applied to the large undeveloped tract of land without first examining the recorded plat which plainly sets forth that the tract was reserved for commercial use as a shopping center. As such, Mr. Smith's and Mr. Spafford's reliance on the assumption that the residential use restrictions applied to Lot 1 would be patently unreasonable. Even if Mr. Smith and Mr. Spafford had not examined the recorded plat, (in which case they could not have had any idea that the restrictive covenants might have even arguably included the commercial lot) their reliance, if any, would still have been unreasonable, for as the Utah



The doctrine of equitable estoppel does not operate in favor of one who has knowledge of the essential facts or one who has convenient and available means of obtaining such knowledge.

Assuming arguendo, the alleged facts raised by the affidavits were established, they would not have precluded summary judgment, since they do not go to the basis of the Motion, that being the interpretation of the restrictive covenant to the large commercial lot. As this Court said in the case of Rich vs. McGovern, on the question of review of a summary judgment:

. . . [I]nasmuch as the party moved against is being defeated without the privilege of a trial, the court should carefully scrutinize the 'submissions' and contentions he makes thereon to see if his contentions and proposals as to proof of material facts, if resolved in his favor, would entitle him to prevail

. . .  
551 P.2d 1266, 1268 (Utah, 1976).

At most, the resolution of the issue of reliance in favor of the Defendants-Appellants would have given rise to a suit for monetary damages, not dismissal of the motion for summary judgment on the interpretation of the covenants' applicability. It is no wonder Defendants-Appellants did not rely on the element of damages since despite the unreasonableness of any alleged reliance, the homeowners in the class most affected have already received the benefit of the large lot being reserved for commercial use. It is undisputed that those lots facing the commercial lot were sold for one-half price. As such, any effort on the part of those homeowner

commercial lot for the purpose for which it was intended would result in an unjust enrichment to them.

It is clear that neither the answer nor the Affidavits filed by Defendants-Appellants raise any material issues of fact and as such, the trial court was amply within its discretion to grant the motion for summary judgment.

#### POINT II

WHERE THE DOCUMENT TO BE CONSTRUED WAS CLEARLY AMBIGUOUS, THE TRIAL COURT WAS JUSTIFIED IN CONSIDERING THE INTENT OF THE SUBDIVISION DEVELOPER.

It is unassailable that the language of the restrictive covenants explicitly refers to, and unquestionably incorporates, the subdivision plat. Indeed, the subdivision plat is critical in order to identify the property to which the restrictive covenants apply. The covenant describes the restricted property as:

All of Mt. Olympus Hills No. 1 and No. 3, according to the official plat thereof on file in the office of the County Recorder of Salt Lake County. (R 15).

A restrictive covenant is a contract. (37A Words and Phrases, Restrictive Covenants). It is well settled that:

. . . it is the general rule that where a contract refers to, and incorporates the provisions of another instrument they shall be construed together. 17A C.J.S. Contracts § 299.

This Court in Bullfrog Marina, Inc. vs. Lentz, 28 Utah 2d 261, 501 P.2d

266 (1972) held that:

. . . where two or more instruments are executed by the same parties contemporaneously, or at different times in the course of the same transaction, and concern the same subject matter, they will be read and construed together so far as determining the respective rights and interests of the parties . . . (Id. at 271). (See also 4 Williston on Contracts, 3rd Ed.) § 628 p. 904).

Reference to the official subdivision plat shows the large ten acre (now five acre) commercial lot clearly identified as "SHOPPING CENTER COMMERCIAL ZONE C-1". The restrictive covenants seem to indicate that all lots are to be used for residential purposes with the exception of two lots for schools and churches. As such, it is apparent that the intent of the developer cannot be ascertained from the four corners of the document itself. In the case of such an ambiguity, the court was justified in considering extrinsic evidence to establish the intent of the subdivision developer.

In a similar situation where this Court was addressing itself to the proper construction of a real estate covenant it said:

In view of the absence of a clear and definite expression in the contracts, it was proper for the trial court to take extraneous evidence and to look to the total circumstances to ascertain the intent. First Western Fidelity vs. Gibbons & Reed Company, 27 Utah 2d 1, 492 P.2d 132, 134 (1971).

It is well settled that:

The fundamental rule in construing restrictive covenants is that the intention of the parties as shown by the

covenant governs . . . In the determination of the intention of the parties, the entire context of the covenant is to be considered. [20 Am. Jur. 2d, Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions, §186 p. 753].

Further, this Court has stated with respect to the interpretation of restrictive covenants:

The intentions of the parties, as gathered from the surrounding circumstances, and purpose of the restriction, must be considered and given effect. Metropolitan Investment Company vs. Sine, 14 Utah 2d 36, 376 P.2d 940, 945 (1962).

Plaintiffs-Respondents do not dispute the proposition that extrinsic evidence is inadmissible to vary the terms of an unambiguous document, however, this clearly is not controlling in the instant case.

It is true that the express terms of an agreement may not be abrogated, nullified or modified by parol testimony; but where, because of vagueness or uncertainty in the language used, the intent of the parties is in question, the court may consider the situation of the parties, the facts and circumstances surrounding the making of the contract, the purpose of its execution and the respective claims thereunder, to ascertain what the parties intended. Continental Bank & Trust Company vs. Stewart, 4 Utah 2d 228, 291 P.2d 890, 892 (1955).

The blatant conflict between the language of the restrictive covenants and the official plat incorporated therein makes the intent of the parties unascertainable without reference to extrinsic evidence. Defendants-Appellants rely on the cases of Commercial Building Corporation vs. Blair, 565 P.2d 776, (Ut. 1977); Clyde vs. Eddington Canning Co., 10 Utah 2d 14,

347 P.2d 563 (1959); and Pulsipher vs. Tolboe, 13 Utah 2d 190, 370 P.2d

360 (1962), is as such unfounded. In each case, this Court dealt with documents in which the language was clear and unambiguous on its face, and in which reference was not required to a second document in order to determine the intent of the original document. Such is clearly not the case with regard to the restrictive covenants in the instant case. As such, the lower court did not commit reversible error in considering the intent of the subdivision developer who caused the restrictive covenants to be drafted.

### POINT III

#### THE RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS CLEARLY WERE NOT INTENDED TO APPLY TO THE COMMERCIAL LOT, AND THE COURT WAS JUSTIFIED IN SO CONCLUDING.

When the restrictive covenants document and the recorded plat are read together, the undisputed facts established clearly show that the express intent of the original subdividers and grantors was that the restrictive covenants regarding residential use did not apply to the then ten acre tract, which was being reserved for commercial use as a shopping center. The undisputed material facts established by Plaintiffs-Respondents' Affidavits are as follows:

(1) The restrictive covenant document explicitly refers to and incorporates the plat which clearly identifies the commercial lot as "SHOPPING CENTER COMMERCIAL ZONE C-1" on the face of the plat.

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